
 

 
 

Board of Zoning Adjustment 

 
 

       BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENT  

October 28th, 2025 

Pre-meeting ï 3:30 p.m. (7th Floor) 

Meeting ï 4:00 p.m. (Council Chambers) 

 

 

 

 



2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2025 ................................................................................................................................... 3 

AGENDA................................................................................................................................................................. 6 

CASE NO. 1 CENTRAL PKWY. /BELTLINE PLACE ....................................................................................................... 7 

SITE PLAN .................................................................................................................................................................... 8 
HOTEL RENDERING ......................................................................................................................................................... 9 
LETTER PAGE 1 ............................................................................................................................................................ 10 
LETTER PAGE 2 ............................................................................................................................................................ 11 

CASE NO. 2 APPLICATION ..................................................................................................................................... 12 

PERMISSION LETTER ..................................................................................................................................................... 13 

CASE NO. 3 APPLICATION ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

SITE PLAN .................................................................................................................................................................. 15 
SIGN 1 ....................................................................................................................................................................... 16 
SIGN 2 ....................................................................................................................................................................... 17 
SIGN 3 ....................................................................................................................................................................... 18 
SIGN 4 ....................................................................................................................................................................... 19 
SIGN 5 ....................................................................................................................................................................... 20 
SIGN 6 ....................................................................................................................................................................... 21 
SIGN 7 ....................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



3 

 

 

MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2025 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:      Chair Delayne Dean, Mr. Chester Ayers, Mr. Mark McCurry, and 

Mr. Tom Polk 

         

SUPERNUMERARIES:        Mrs. Erika Huber, and Mr. Mark Moody 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:         Mrs. Ruth Priest, Assistant City Attorney 

          Mr. Tommie Williams Planner 

          Mr. Josiah Harris Planning Technician 

          Mr. John Waggoner Inspector Manager & Recorder 

          Mr. Jonathon Dry Building Inspector 

           

         

Chair Delayne Dean called the meeting to order at 4:04 p.m. in the Council Chambers on the first 

floor at City Hall.   

 

Chair asked that role be called. Present as noted above. 

 

Chair asked if the August 2025 minutes required any corrections. There were no corrections made. 

Mr. Tom Polk motioned to approve the minutes. Mr. Mark McCurry made a second. On a voice 

vote, all Yes, the motion carried. The minutes from the August 2025 meeting were approved. 

 

CASE NO. 1 

 

Application and appeal of Brett Whitlow for a variance from Section 25-2 to construct an accessory 

structure in the side yard. Property is located at 109 4th Avenue NW in an R-4, Residential Multi-

Family District. 

 

Brett Whitlow presented this case to the Board. Mr. Whitlow stated his name and address as 109 

4th Avenue NW. Mr. Whitlow stated he is asking for a variance to place a garage next to his home 

for storage. Chair asked for questions from the Board. Chair asked why the structure could not be 

moved into the rear yard. Mr. Whitlow stated there is a large tree and power lines in the back yard. 

Tom Polk asked how access to 4th Avenue could be achieved. Mr. Whitlow stated he would seek 

Engineering’s approval if the variance were granted. Tom Polk asked if the power line was the 

service drop to the home. Mr. Whitlow stated it is the service drop to neighbor’s homes and 

underground to his. Tom Polk asked if the power lines would interfere with garage being placed 

in the rear yard. Mr. Whitlow stated it could potentially affect rear yard placement. Tom Polk 

stated the proposed building is quite large. Mr. Whitlow stated there was a bigger house on that 

lot. Chair asked if attaching the garage had been considered. Mr. Whitlow stated that had been 

proposed but not feasible at this time. 

 

Chair asked for any other questions from the Board. None. Chair asked for comments from the 

public. None. Chair asked for comments from the Building Department. None. Chair asked for 

comments from the Planning Department. Tommie Williams stated the applicant did go before the 



4 

 

Planning Commission to consolidate the lots. Tommie Williams expressed concerns over the size 

of the structure and impact to the character of the neighborhood. Chair asked what type of materials 

would be used for the building. Mr. Whitlow stated steel siding but was not opposed to matching 

the home. Tom Polk asked if this would be a pole barn. Mr. Whitlow stated that is his desire. 

Chester Ayers asked, would you be opposed to moving the structure closer to the house? Mr. 

Whitlow stated he is not opposed. Chair closed call for public testimony. Chair asked the Board 

for its ruling. Tom Polk made a motion to approve as submitted. Mark Moody made a second. 

Chair called for role. Delayne Dean, No. Mark Moody, Yes, Tom Polk, No. Chester Ayers, Yes. 

Mark McCurry, Yes. The motion was Denied.  

 

 

CASE NO. 2 

 

Application and appeal of Laron Hardy for a use permitted on appeal from Section 25-11 to operate 

a restaurant business. Property is located at 802 6th Avenue SE in a B-1, Local Shopping District.  

 

Laron Hardy presented this case to the Board. Mr. Hardy stated his name and ownership of a 

building on the corner of 6th Avenue and 4th Street SE. Mr. Hardy stated the building has been in 

commercial use for forty years. Mr. Hardy stated his tenant would like to use the building as a 

vegetarian café. Mr. Hardy stated he owns the property next door and parking should not be an 

issue.  

 

Chair asked for questions from the Board. None. Chair asked for comments from the public. None. 

Chair asked for comments from the Building Department. None. Chair asked for comments from 

the Planning Department. None. Chair closed call for public testimony. Chair asked the Board for 

its ruling. Chester Ayers made a motion to approve as submitted. Tom Polk made a second. Chair 

called for role. All Yes, the motion was approved.  

 

CASE NO. 3 

 

Application and appeal of Lennar Homes for a 5 feet front yard setback variance from Section 25-

10.10 (2) (c) to construct a new single family residence. Property is located at 220 Clear Creek 

Drive SW in an R-3, Single Family District. 

 

Nathan Tomberlin presented this case to the Board. Mr. Tomberlin stated his name and 

representation of Lennar Homes. Mr. Tomberlin stated they are seeking a 5-foot front yard setback 

variance. Mr. Tomberlin stated FEMA requested fill to be removed from the floodway. Mr. 

Tomberlin stated the floodway has made it difficult to place the home on the lot and meet the 

setbacks.  

 

Chair asked for questions from the Board. Tom Polk asked if FEMA had required the fill removal. 

Mr. Tomberlin stated yes, the floodway cannot have fill placed within it unless a study is done. 

Mr. Tomberlin stated the home would still be in the floodplain but elevated 1 foot above BFE. Mr. 

Tomberlin stated the footprint of the proposed home is the smallest plan available and they have 

looked at several options trying to make the house fit. Mr. Tomberlin stated the hardship is due to 

the removal of fill from the floodway. Tom Polk asked who placed fill in the floodway. Mr. 



5 

 

Tomberlin stated he was unsure if Lennar or the developer pushed fill into the floodway. Mark 

McCurry asked if that area stays wet. Mr. Tomberlin stated no, that area does not.  

 

Chair asked for any other questions from the Board. None. Chair asked for comments from the 

public. None. Chair asked for comments from the Building Department. John Waggoner asked if 

the lot would need to be re-platted if granted. Tommie Williams stated it would be ideal to re-plat 

but not required. Tommie Williams asked if the proposed home would project past the existing 

homes. Mr. Tomberlin stated yes, by 5 feet but the home has a garage offset. Tommie Williams 

asked if the home could be made smaller. Mr. Tomberlin stated no, I believe it is the smallest floor 

plan available. There was further discussion and questions concerning floodplain. Tommie 

Williams asked what would happen if the variance was not granted. Mr. Tomberlin stated nothing 

could be built on the lot. Chair closed call for public testimony. Chair asked the Board for its 

ruling. Tom Polk made a motion to approve as submitted. Chester Ayers made a second. Chair 

called for role. All Yes, the motion was approved.  

 

 

Chair asked for any other new business. None. 

 

 

Meeting adjourned at 4:32 p.m. 

 

_________________________    
 

Delayne Dean, Chair 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



6 

 

AGENDA 

 

 

CASE NO. 1 

 

Application and appeal of Southern Hospitality Services, LLC for an 18 feet front yard setback 

variance from Section 25-21.1 (2) to construct a canopy structure for a new hotel. Property is 

located at the North West corner of the intersection of Beltline Place and Central Avenue SW in 

an M-1, Light Industry District. 

 

CASE NO. 2 

 

Application and appeal of Dodd Signs and Service, LLC for a: 

 

1. 300.64 square feet attached sign area variance from Section 25-76 (e) (2) 

2. and an 80 square feet directional sign area variance from Section 25-73 (2) 

 

for a new Speedway project. Property is located at 3523 Deere Road SE in an M-1, Light 

Industry District. 

 

CASE NO. 3 

 

Application and appeal of Peachtree Entertainment, LLC for a use permitted on appeal from 

Section 25-12.1 for: 

 

1. commercial amusement entertainment and/or an event venue 

2. and a temporary trailer court for campground use in the month of the Rock the South 

event. 

 

Property has a parcel ID of 02 08 28 0 000 010.000 and is located in an AG-1, Agricultural 

District. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



7 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

CASE NO. 1 CENTRAL PKWY . /BELTLINE PLACE  



8 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Site Plan 



9 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Hotel Rendering 



10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Letter Page 1 



11 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Letter Page 2 



12 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

CASE NO. 2 APPLICATI ON 



13 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Permission Letter 



14 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

CASE NO. 3 APPLICATI ON 



15 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Site Plan 



16 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Sign 1 



17 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Sign 2 



18 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Sign 3 



19 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Sign 4 



20 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Sign 5 



21 

 

 
 

 

 

Sign 6 



22 

 

 
 

 

 

Sign 7 


